

installation manual CAD Decor PRO 3.3.1, CAD Decor 3.3.1, CAD Kitchens 7.3.1



www.cadprojekt.com.pl

THANK YOU FOR PURCHASING A PROGRAM FROM CAD PROJEKT K&A!

We are glad that you are beginning your adventure with one of our programs! This document will help you get through the installation process quickly and efficiently. We make sure that the installation and use of our software goes smoothly. Should you nevertheless experience any problems, our **Technical Support** is available at the following number: **+48 61 662 38 83** and at the following address e-mail: **pomoc@cadprojekt.com.pl**. You can also use the contact **form** available at **www.en.cadprojekt.com.pl** in the **support** section.

FREE SERVICE PACKAGE

When you purchased the program, we provided **you with a free** <u>service</u> <u>package</u>, active for **12 months**. After this time, you can buy a prolongation. To activate the package, contact our Technical Support. The active package guarantees:

- software updates and upgrades via the Internet, including updating the CAD environment,
- access to new databases and their updates,
- technical support via phone or e-mail in terms of: assistance in installation, software service, reporting errors and bugs, as well as having problems resolved remotely by our service technicians after connecting to your computer (note: technical support does not include instructions of how to use the program),
- access to accounts in the CAD Share-it application: BASIC (free for users of all our interior design programs) or PRO (free for CAD Decor PRO owners).

TRAININGS

We encourage you to participate in our trainings, during which you can learn how to work with our software in the most pleasant and effective way. We offer individual and group trainings, stationary or remote, at various levels of advancement. For more information visit <u>www.en.cadprojekt.com.pl</u> and check <u>offer/pricelist</u> and <u>offer/trainings</u> sections.

We wish you pleasant and productive work with our software! CAD Projekt K&A Team

Copyright

This document is protected by the intellectual property rights of CAD Projekt K&A. Copying, distribution and / or modification of the following document is allowed under the terms of the license agreement. The license agreement is available in electronic form upon program installation.

Limitation of liability

Information in this document, including URL and other Internet Web site references, is subject to change without notice. CAD Projekt K&A reserves the right to introduce changes to the rules of technical support without prior notice. If it is necessary to change telephone numbers, relevant information will be provided on our website www.cadprojekt.com.pl.

Table of contents

1. System and hardware requirements	4
1.2. Recommended hardware requirements	4
1.3. Other requirements and recommendations	5
2. Software installation	5
2.1. Recommended system settings for Windows 8 / 8.1	6
2.2. Introduction to software installation	7
2.3. Database server version	10
2.4. The full installation of the program	11
2.4.1. Selection of installation elements	
2.4.2. Selection of installation location	12
2.4.34CAD environment version	13
2.4.4. Copying system files and databases	13
2.4.5. Installation of additional components	14
3. Installation of the .4CAD environment	16
4. Launching the program	18
5. Entering registration codes	18
6. Uninstalling the program	19
Contact	21

1. System and hardware requirements

For customers with an active service package, we provide technical support for our software on hardware that complies with the requirements listed below. Older, outdated versions of our software may not function properly on new graphics cards, as well as on other computer components or versions of Windows whose release date precedes the distribution date of your software.

1.1. System requirements

System requirements include: Windows 8/8.1, Windows 10 or Windows 11 64-bit operating system (our software does not work with Linux or Mac OS) and .4CAD (supplied with our software at no extra charge).

1.2. Recommended hardware requirements

Our software does not function on graphics cards other than NVIDIA GeForce. Below are the recommended hardware requirements. If you have an older-generation graphics card, please verify its performance against the list below. If in doubt, please contact Technical Support (see <u>contact details</u> at the end of this manual).

Hardware requirements for CAD Decor PRO and programs with the Render PRO module	:	 3 GHz quad-core processor, 3 MB Cache with support for SSE 4.1 instructions (SSE 4.1 instructions are available for Intel processors released from 2010 and AMD processors released from 2015); RAM memory: 16 GB; graphics card (as per the following table): NVIDIA GeForce **** with 3-4 GB RAM (a recommendation for designs consisting of less than 2 million surfaces ¹); NVIDIA GeForce **** with memory above 4 GB RAM (a recommendation for designs consisting of more than 2 million surfaces).
Hardware requirements for programs without the Render PRO	:	3 GHz dual or more core processor, Cache 3MB RAM memory: 8 GB ; graphics card NVIDIA GeForce *** or ** (as per the following table).

NOTE

Example of optimal configuration for CAD Decor PRO: 64-bit Windows 10, RAM: 16 GB, Intel Core i5 7500 processor, NVIDIA GeForce graphics card *****.

NOTE

For Windows 8/8.1, 10 and 11 operating systems, <u>do not install</u> programs in the folders: C:\Program Files or C:\Program Files x 86

¹ The numbers given are indicative. The recommendation mainly concerns operations performed using the Path tracing algorithm and in technical documentation.



1.3. Other requirements and recommendations

Adequate hard disk space should be provided (amount estimated, depends on program selected and number of databases installed) and at least periodic access to the Internet to perform software updates.

NOTE

To ensure the correct operation of our software, designs should be properly optimized. The models used have the greatest impact on the rendering speed and the correct operation of the program.

2. Software installation

Before installing the program on Windows 8/8.1, Windows 10 or Windows 11, make sure you have administrator rights. You may also need to change system settings that are important for the installer to work correctly. In the following subsections, we describe how to prepare for the software installation process and how all the steps of the process work.

2.1. Recommended system settings for Windows 8 / 8.1

In order to change the system settings, enter the Windows Control Panel and select the **'User Accounts'** (Fig. 1, Fig. 2), and then the option **'Change User Account Control** (Fig. 3).

🔢 Control Panel			- 0	×
		~ U		٩
Adjust	your computer's settings	View by: Category *		
ব্য ক্রি ক্রি	System and Security Review your computer's status Save backup copies of your files with File History Back up and Restore (Windows 7) Network and Internet View network status and tasks Hardware and Sound View devices and printers Add a device Adjust commonly used mobility settings Programs Uninstall a program	User Accounts		

Fig. 1 - Selecting the 'User accounts' icon in the Windows Control Panel - Category view

The **'User Account Control Settings'** window will open (Fig. 4), in which you should select the lowest control level with the slider (disable it) and then click **'Ok'** to confirm the change. Since account control is turned on by default, when you change the settings, you'll be asked to confirm that the user allows changes to be made on the computer. To finally disable the control, select **'Ok'**. The system may ask you to restart your computer (in which case you should restart your computer as soon as possible). Disabled account control will allow for conflict-free work with the software installer.

All C	ontrol Panel Items							- 0	\times
← →		Control P	Panel Items			~	Ü	Search Control Panel	P
Adjus	t your computer's settings							View by: Large icons -	
	Credential Manager	P	Date and Time	6	Default Programs	1	Devic	e Manager	^
-	Devices and Printers	٢	Ease of Access Centre		File Explorer Options	0	File H	listory	
A	Fonts	D	Indexing Options	e	Internet Options	~	Keyb	oard	
0	Mail (Microsoft Outlook)	0	Mouse	1	Network and Sharing Centre	4	Phon	e and Modem	
2	Power Options	B	Programs and Features		Recovery	٩	Regio	n	
1	RemoteApp and Desktop Connections	P	Security and Maintenance	0	Sound	Ģ	Speed	ch Recognition	
	Storage Spaces	0	Sync Centre		System	5	Taskb	ar and Navigation	
	Troubleshooting	88	User Accounts User Accounts		Windows Defender		Wind	ows Mobility Centre	
6	Work Folders		Change user accor passwords for peo computer.	unt settin ople who	gs and share this				Ŷ





Fig. 3 - Changing the 'User Account Control' settings in Windows 8/8.1

👽 User Account Control Settings		-		×
Choose when to be User Account Control hel Itell me more about User Always notify	notified about changes to your computer ps prevent potentially harmful programs from making changes to y Account Control settings	our computer.		
	Never notify me when: • Applications try to install software or make changes to my computer • I make changes to Windows settings • Not recommended.			
Never notify	€ок	Cancel]	

Fig. 4 - User account control disabled

2.2. Introduction to software installation

Before starting the installation, it is recommended that you close all applications running on your computer. You should also uninstall the database server if it is not the required version (i.e. if it is a Firebird server older than 2.5 or any Inter Base server). If a version of the server other than the required version is present on the disk at the start of the program installation, the program will force its uninstallation as <u>described on page 10</u>. The installation begins with inserting the installation pendrive (Fig. 5) in the USB port of the computer. If the window shown below (Fig. 6) does not open automatically, you can search for the installer yourself. The installer does not start automatically. To run it, double-click the **Setup.exe** icon (Fig. 6).



Fig. 5 - Installation pendrive

NOTE

Before starting the installation, it is necessary to connect a HASP security dongle to the computer.



Fig. 6 - window with the contents of the installation pendrive, which opens after inserting it into the USB port

After running the **Setup.exe** file, the *Installation Wizard* window opens (Fig. 7).Once you have familiarized yourself with the information shown in the window, click on the '**Next**' button to proceed to the next installation stage. To terminate the installer at this stage, select the '**Cancel**' button in the bottom left corner of the window.

The installation can be discontinued at any time, but please note that the installed program will not work properly in this case. After selecting the '**Cance**' button, the user will be asked to confirm the termination of the installation (Fig. 8).

After clicking 'Next' the Wizard will automatically initiate the installation of the HASP drivers (Fig. 9). This may take several dozen seconds, after which the program will proceed to the next installation step.

NOTE

In the new version of the installation wizard, the registration code for CAD Decor PRO, CAD Decor or CAD Kitchens must be entered. You will be able to enter the codes for additional modules in the program after the installation is completed.



Fig. 7 - Welcome screen of the Installation Wizard

Installation Wizard					
?	Do you really want to close the install	er?			
	Yes No]			

Fig. 8 - Confirmation of installation discontinuation

A message appears in the window informing you that you need to enter the registration codes for your program (Fig. 10). The code for CAD Decor PRO, CAD Decor or CAD Kitchens must be entered. The codes for additional modules and CAD Decoration can be entered after installation and start of the software. Based on the code provided, the Wizard will identify which program the user owns and adjust the messages in the subsequent installation steps accordingly. After entering a valid registration code, the wizard will display a confirmation message and the '**Next**' button in the bottom right corner will become active (Fig. 11).

When you go to the next step, the wizard will display the contents of the license agreement in a window (Fig. 12). In order to be able to proceed with the installation, once you have read the agreement, you must accept it in the bottom left corner and click 'Next'. The agreement can be printed by clicking on the **'Print license agreement'** in the bottom-right corner of the window. If the user does not agree with the terms and conditions, they can terminate the installation by clicking **'Cancel**'.

After accepting the content of the agreement and clicking 'Next', in the next window you should choose the type of installation (Fig. 13):

- 'Full program installation' calls up the procedure for a standard full program installation.
- 'Installation of selected databases' allows databases to be added to an existing program; this option is not available during initial installation; once selected, the program will calculate the size of the databases available for installation in order to check whether it exceeds the amount of free disk space (the required amount is approximately 14 GB; the exact amount depends on the number and size of databases to be installed).
- 'User manual for the program in PDF format' installs the program manual in the electronic version.

			~
Please wait			
	Installation of the HA	SP dongle drives	
	3 10		
Cancel	Installation manual	Back	
Cancel	Installation manual Fig. 9 - Installation (Back of HASP drivers	Next
Cancel	Installation manual Fig. 9 - Installation (Back of HASP drivers	Next
Cancel	Installation manual Fig. 9 - Installation o	Dof HASP drivers	Next

	Lack of a valid code w	ill prevent you from u	using the program!	
Cancel	Installation manual		Back	Next

Fig. 10 - Screen with request for program codes

Installation Wizard -	Х
Enter the registration codes Enter the program registration code. If you have codes for additional modules you will be able to enter them in the program.	
The codes you entered are correct. You are about to install CAD Decor PRO v. 3.3.1	
Cancel Installation manual Back Next	

Fig. 11 - Entering a valid registration code



Fig. 12 - Read the license agreement

Installation Wi	fizard	- ×
The typ	pe of installation	
√ √	☑ Full installation of the CAD Decor PRO program	
	Installation of the selected databases	
Å	Program Operation Manual in PDF	
Cancel	Installation manual Back	Next



2.3. Database server version

If the computer has an Inter Base or Firebird server with a version older than 2.5, after selecting the type of installation and clicking 'Next', the program will inform about it and propose a solution: uninstalling the wrong server version. After giving your consent (clicking 'Yes'), the 'Uninstall or change the program' window will open, select the 'Firebird' item, and click 'Uninstall', then confirm the operation (Fig. 14) If you decline, the installation of the program will be suspended. Once confirmed, the uninstallation of the server will begin. When it is complete, close the 'Uninstall or change programs' window and proceed to the next installation step.

Programs and Features							- 0	×
$\leftarrow \rightarrow \checkmark \uparrow \overline{a}$ > Control	Panel > All Control Panel Items > Programs and Features				~ Ö			م ر
Control Panel Home	Uninstall or change a program							
View installed updates	To uninstall a program, select it from the list and th	nen click Uninstall, Change or	r Repair.					
Turn Windows features on or								
off	Organise 👻 Uninstall							. 7
	Name	Publisher		Installed On	Size	Version		
	CadLicense 1.0.7	CAD Projekt		21/09/2022	149 MB	1.0.7		
	Care Center Service	Acer Incorporated		12/01/2022	29.9 MB	4.00.3042		
	S CCleaner	Piriform		25/10/2022		6.05		
	dot4CAD 6	CAD Projekt K&A s.c.	1	24/06/2022	222 MB			
	🜃 EMS SQL Manager Lite for InterBase/Firebird	EMS Software Developr	ment	08/04/2022	49.6 MB	5.5.4.52620		
	ESET Endpoint Security	ESET, spol. s r.o.		04/11/2022	81.4 MB	9.1.2060.0		
	FSET Management Agent	ESET, spol, s r.o.		04/04/2022	169 MB	9.0.1141.0		
	Firebird 2.5.0.26074 (Win32)	Firebird Project		23/08/2021		2.5.0.26074		
	FreeFileSync	FreeFileSync.org		22/06/2022	50.7 MB	11.21		
	🔹 Generic PCL6 V4 Printer Driver Uninstaller	Canon Inc.	_	01/09/2021		2.1.0.0		
	CIMP 2.10.28	The GIMP Team	Odinstaluj	Firebird			\times	
	🙀 Intel(R) Chipset Device Software	Intel(R) Corporation						
	Intel® Management Engine Components	Intel Corporation		Czy na pewno	o chcesz usunać r	program Firebird i wszy	stkie iego	
	Killer Ethernet Performance Driver Suite UWD	Rivet Networks		składniki?				
	Microsoft Access database engine 2016 (English)	Microsoft Corporation						
	Microsoft Edge	Microsoft Cornoration						
	FireDird Project Product version: 2.5.0.	.26074 S	u			Ves	No	

Fig. 14 - the 'Uninstall or change a program' window and a request to confirm the uninstallation of the Firebird server

2.4. The full installation of the program

Full installation includes: selecting the elements to be installed, recognizing, and possibly installing the appropriate version of the .4CAD environment, copying and registering system files (program components and standard databases), installation of selected databases (tiles, interior furnishings and materials), installation of additional components: MDAC environment, Firebird database server and Visual C++ Redistributable (VC Redist) packages.

2.4.1. Selection of installation elements

Installation Wizard		- ×
Select elements to install		
H V Available databases		
H V Kitchen cabinets databases (1 168 MB) T		
Household appliances databases (1 057,6 MB)		
I Intes databases (900,1 MD) I Interior decige detabases (5 681 MB)		
Materials and textures databases (2 220 MB)		
\square \square Other installation components		
Program Operation Manual in PDF		
Expected size of the installation: 12 673 7 MB		
Cancel Installation manual	Back	Nevt
Cancer	Dack	Mexi

Fig. 15 - Selection of installation components

After starting the full installation of your software and click on 'Next', you can select the databases to be installed, using which projects will be created. The list shows the categories of databases available on the installation pendrive (Fig. 15). Here, you can also select the instruction manual in the PDF file in the Other installation items category.

To expand the list of available databases, click on the symbol \boxplus next to a particular category. To collapse the list, click in the same place (the symbol will change its look: \boxminus). All items are checked by default. To opt one out, deselect it. You can select and deselect items in groups by left clicking on superior categories.

2.4.2. Selection of installation location

The next step is to choose a location on the computer's disk where the program files are to be saved, that is to indicate the path for the installation (Fig. 16). After clicking the '**Browse'** button, the '**Browse for folder**' window will appear (Fig. 17) where you can select the save location. If the user does not manually indicate the installation location, the program will install by default on the C drive, in the CAD Projekt directory, in a subfolder with the program name (Fig. 16).

If the program currently being installed has previously been installed in the indicated location, the installer will inform about this fact and make sure that the user wants to reinstall it in the same directory, overwriting its contents (Fig. 18).

After selecting the **'Yes'** button, the files in the indicated directory will be overwritten, i.e. the program version installed there will be replaced with the currently installed one. After selecting **'No'**, the installer will return to the path selection window, giving the possibility to select a different location (it is recommended, as overwriting files may cause problems with the functioning of the program; however, if the user decides to overwrite the contents of the indicated installation directory, make sure that the currently

NOTE

As a reminder, do not install the program in the locations C:\Program Files or C:\Program Files (x86).

installed version is newer than the one already installed). A similar message will appear if there are any files in the indicated location, which are not, however, files from an earlier version of the installed software. To indicate a different installation directory, select the '**No**' option.

If user databases (tiles, interior furnishings, kitchen cabinets or tile layouts) are detected in the indicated location, the 'Files from previous installations' window will appear (Fig. 19), where you can decide whether these databases should be left in their current shape or whether new databases are to be installed from the installation pendrive, not containing any elements (if there are no user databases in the indicated installation location, this step will be skipped).

Installation Wizard		—	\times
Select the target directory			
The target path of the program and the databases:			
C:\CADProjekt\CAD Decor PRO v. 3.3.1\	Browse		
Free space on the disk C: 121 291,5 MB (required: 12 673,7 MB)			
Cancel Installation manual	Back	Next	

Fig. 16 - Selection of installation location

ease select the directory in which the program.	nodio de installeo.
Desktop	^
OneDrive - Personal	
🔉 🤱 Anna Zielińska	
🖌 🛄 This PC	
> 🧊 3D Objects	
> 🦲 Desktop	
> 🔮 Documents	
> 🕹 Downloads	
> 👌 Music	
> 💽 Pictures	
> 🛃 Videos	
🛩 🏪 Acer (C:)	
- CIAC DEA -	~

Fig. 17 - Browse for folder

Installation W	izard
?	The target directory of the program already exists and is not empty. Are you sure you want to install the program in it by overwriting its content?
	Yes No

Fig. 18 - Destination directory is not empty

Two options are available:

- 'Leave existing databases' selecting this option causes that the user's database remains intact in the target location, which will protect them against losing the content that has been saved in them so far (i.e., selfadded tiles, interior design models, kitchen cabinets or created layouts).
- 'Install new, empty databases'' new user databases will be installed from the installation pendrive that do not contain any elements that will replace the existing databases (their content will be lost)

Installation Wizard	- >	<
Files from previous installations		
The following databases already exist on the disk: ✓ User Tiles Database ✓ User Interior Design Database ✓ User Cabinet Database ✓ Tiles Arrangements Database What do you want to do with them? (a) Leave existing databases (b) Install new, empty databases		
Cancel Installation manual	Back Next	
Fig. 10 Files from providus in	actallations	

2.4.3. .4CAD environment version

After completing the installation of user databases, the installer will search the computer's disks in search of our software working environment, called the dot4CAD (.4CAD program, our proprietary version of the IntelliCAD platform). This environment is necessary for the installation and operation of our software (Fig. 20).

If the environment is not found or is in the wrong version, then its installation will start automatically from the installation flash drive. Its course is presented on <u>page 16</u>. If the found dot4CAD environment is in the latest version, the installer will go straight to the further stages of installation.

2.4.4. Copying system files and databases

If the dot4CAD environment does not have to be installed, then after selecting the elements for installation, system files will be copied and registered: program components, e.g., EXE, INI, DLL files, databases, e.g., JPG, DWX, DWG files, PAL, user manual in PDF file. In this step, the installer will upload the previously selected databases of producers of kitchen furniture, household appliances, interior design elements, tiles and materials. On the next screens, the user is informed how much free disk space is left and which database is currently being installed. You can also follow the installation progress on the bar at the bottom of the window (Fig. 21).



Fig. 20 - Selection of working environment

Installation Wizard		- ×
The amount of free space on disk C: 121 149,6 MB		
Copying the file: stol_II.jpg		
Cancel Installation manual	Back	Next

Fig. 21 - Installation progress

Installation of databases is automated. However, if the program was previously installed on a given computer and the installer detects the database on a disk with the same name as the currently installed database, user action will be required.

Possible solutions in such case are (Fig. 22):

'Install a new database and save the existing one under a • new name' - the newer version of the database will be installed, but will not replace the previous one; the older version will be renamed automatically; this will allow the simultaneous use of both versions of the database in the program in the case of interior (accessories) and kitchen (cabinets) databases, and will also create backups in the case

Installation Wizard
The database already exists on the disk:
PARADYŻ CLASSICA (file: płytki_classica.fdb)
What do you want to do with it?
 Install a new database and save the existing one under a new name Install a new database overwriting the existing one Do not install a new database
Apply to all remaining new databases
ОК

Fig. 22 - What to do with the installed base

of tile databases (note: the older version of the tile database will not be available for use in the program at the same time as the new one).

- 'Install a new database, overwriting the existing one' the older version will be replaced with the new, currently installed version of the database.
- 'Do not install a new database' the installation of the new version is skipped; the older version of the database will remain unchanged on the disk.

If the same solution is to be applied to all databases, you can select the 'Apply to all remaining new databases' option. The installer will then stop asking questions every time it detects an older version of the database but will apply the selected command to all subsequent databases.

2.4.5. Installation of additional components

After completing the copying of system files and databases, the 'Installation of additional components' screen will appear, showing the completed, currently running, and pending installation steps (Fig. 23). At this stage, the MDAC environment, Firebird database server and Visual C++ Redistributable packages (VC Redist) are uploaded.

You can follow the steps of component installation on the list.). Item marked with ▶ is an operation currently in progress, w means that the operation is pending and \checkmark that operation is completed.

Before installing the VC Redist packages, the installer

Installation Wizard		- ×		
Installation of additional components				
 Copying and registering system files 				
✓ Installation of the MDAC environment				
 Installation of the Firebird database server 				
Installation of the Visual C++ Redistributable packages				
Installation of the additional components in progress				
Cancel Installation manual	Back	Next		

Fig. 23 - Installation of additional components

Installation W	izard
?	Further updating may cause the computer to restart. We recommend saving open files and closing all applications. Do you want to continue?
	Yes No

Fig. 24 - Warning of a possible restart

will warn you about the possible automatic restart of the computer, which may occur during this process (Fig. 24).

If you agree to continue, the VC Redist packages are installed, which may result in the computer shutting down and restarting by itself. It will happen without another warning, so make sure all files and applications are closed before beginning the installation of the VC Redist packages. After restarting the computer, you can start working with the installed program. If the computer does not restart automatically, immediately

after the installation of Visual C++ Redistributable packages, a final screen will appear informing you about the successful completion of the installation (Fig. 25).

Installation Wizard	- ×
Installation successfully completed	
,	
Thank you for choosing our software www.cadprojekt.com.pl	
🚫 CAD PROJEKT K&A	
Start the program	Finish

Fig. 25 - Information on completion of installation

If the installation of a component fails (e.g. the user does not agree to the installation of VC Redist packages), a cross will appear next to the item x, and a message will appear at the bottom of the window, suggesting reinstallation (Fig. 26).

Installation Wizard		-	×
Installation of additional components			
 Copying and registering system files 			
 Installation of the MDAC environment 			
Installation of the Firebird database server			
X Installation of the Visual C++ Redistributable package	s	Try again	
Installation of some compo Try again or contact Tec	ments has failed. hnical Support		
Cancel Installation manual	Back	Next	

Fig. 26 - Installation of some components has failed

If the component is still not installed correctly after the second attempt, please contact Technical Support (contact details at the end of the manual).

NOTE

For software with a Render PRO Module, when the user does not agree to the installation of VC Redistributable packages, it will be possible to run the installed program, but the noise reduction function for the Path tracing algorithm in the Render PRO module will remain inactive until the packages are installed.

Regardless of whether all the components have been installed correctly or not, after clicking the '**Next**' button, the information about the completion of the installation will appear.

3. Installation of the .4CAD environment

When purchasing one of our programs, you receive a licensed version of IntelliCAD, which is one of the basic elements of the designing system. The original version of the IntelliCAD environment made by CAD Projekt K&A is called dot4CAD (.4CAD).

During the first installation of the CAD Projekt K&A programs, the installer of the dot4CAD environment is launched automatically.

If an earlier version of the .4CAD environment is already installed on your computer the Wizzard will inform you about it and it will display the available versions. If at this point you decide to install the recent version from the installation pendrive, select the option **'Install a new version of the IntelliCAD environment**.' If you need to run the dot4CAD installer manually, look for it on the installation pendrive and run it. To do this, find the Setuplcad folder and run the file: **dot4CAD_setup_6.6.xxx.xx.exe** (Fig. 28).

📕 I 🗹 📕 🖛		Manage dot4CAE	066_default		_	
File Home	Share View	App Tools				^ ?
Navigation	Extra large icons Medium-sized icon	Large icons Small icons Details	Sort by •	☐ Item check boxes ☐ File name extensions ✔ Hidden items	Hide selected items	Options
Paries		Layour	Current view	Show/hide		
$\leftarrow \rightarrow \uparrow \uparrow$	Setuplcad >	dot4CAD66_default		V O Sea	rch dot4CAD66_o	default
 3 2D Obj Deskto Docum Docum Docum Music Picture Videos Acer (C Nowy (Acer (Q Nowy (Acer (Q Nowy (Acer (Q Nowy (Acer (Acer (Acer (Control Recycle instalato 	ects p penents s s ;) D; (\(192.168.0.100) (5;) \\(192.168.0.81) (V;) um (\(192.168.0.81) (V;) Panel Bin ry	C				
1 item 1 item	n selected 36.7 MB	*				

Fig. 28 - Manual launch of the dot4CAD environment installer

In each of the above cases, the installation of the environment is the same. The first step is to select the installation language (Fig. 29).

Once the language has been approved, you will be asked to specify the installation folder (Fig. 30). The default folder is C:\CADProjekt\dot4CAD. After selecting a folder, you can start the installation, by clicking **'Install'**. The installation is automated – you can follow its progress on the bar (Fig. 31). After a few seconds, a message appears informing you that the installation is complete (Fig. 32) – click **'Finish'** to close the installer.

Select Setup Language			
4	Select the language to use during the installation.		
	English	\sim	
	OK Cancel	I	
Fig. 29 - Choice of dot4CAD installation language			

NOTE

The .4CAD installation process can be interrupted at any time by selecting '**Cancel**', but the software will not be installed correctly in this situation.



Fig. 27 - Icon of dot4CAD



Setup - dot4CAD 6 Select Destination Location Where should dot4CAD be installed?	_		×
Setup will install dot4CAD into the following folder. To continue, click Next. If you would like to select a different f	older, clic	k Browse.	
	1		
At least 222.4 MB of free disk space is required.			
	Install	Ca	ncel
Fig. 30 - Request for location of instal	ation		
🛃 Setup - dot4CAD 6	_		×
Installing Please wait while Setup installs dot4CAD on your computer.			
Extracting files D:\CADProjekt\dot4CAD\Help\Using IntelliCAD.pdf			
		Ca	incel

Fig. 31 - Installation progress of the dot4CAD environment



Fig. 32 - Successful completion of dot4CAD installation

4. Launching the program

In order to start the program, you must insert the HASP key in the USB port of the computer. Otherwise, a message about its absence will appear (Fig. 33), and the program will not start. If the LED of the USB key, which indicates its correct operation, does not light up, change the key to another port or replace it with another USB device. If these steps do not help, check that the USB manufacturer's drivers are properly installed. You can start the program by selecting the program icon from the Start menu, double-clicking the shortcut icon on the desktop or by running the .exe file in the **V3_I6x86** subfolder in the program installation location.

IntelliCAD	×
No HASP key fou	ind
0	(

Fig. 33 - Missing HASP key message

5. Entering registration codes

When you start the installed program for the first time,, a window will open informing you that you need to enter the codes for the program and any additional modules (Fig. 34).



Fig. 34 - Welcome screen when starting the program for the first time

Click 'Next>' and in the next window (Fig. 35) enter the codes from the Registration Card that you received when you purchased the software. To enter the code for the Wardrobe Module, expand the panel with its name using the arrow v. If the code is entered incorrectly, a red cross will appear: ×, however, if the code is entered correctly, a green 'tick' will be displayed: \checkmark . After confirming it with the '**Ok**' button, you can start working with the program.). If the registration codes are not provided or is incorrect, the program will close after clicking '**Ok**'.

NOTE

It is not necessary to enter the codes for additional modules when the program is started for the first time – you can provide them later.

NOTE

The registration code for the CAD Cut program is entered separately when the program is launched for the first time. An **'Encoding'** window will open, in which you should type the code from the Registration Card and click **'Ok.'** Immediately after confirming the correct code, you can start working with the CAD Cut program.

Encoding CAD Decor PRO
Enter the registration code of the program and modules. If you do not have codes for additional modules.
CAD Decor PRO 3
Additional modules
Wardrobe Module
X V

Fig. 35 - Window for filling in the program registration codes

6. Uninstalling the program

If you need to uninstall CAD Decor PRO, CAD Decor or CAD Kitchens go to the Control Panel and select **'Uninstall a program'** option (Fig. 36). Then, in the newly opened **'Programs and Features'** window, select the desired program and click the **'Uninstall/ Change'** button at the top of the window (Fig. 37).

Adjust yo	our computer's settings		Ň	/iew by: Cat	tegory 🔻	
	System and Security Review your computer's status Save backup copies of your files with File History	User Account	t s nt type			
	Back up and Restore (Windows 7) Network and Internet	Appearance a	and Person	alisation		
	View network status and tasks	Clock and Re	Clock and Region			
-	Hardware and Sound View devices and printers	Ease of Acces	is	ormats		
	Add a device Adjust commonly used mobility settings	Let Windows suge Optimise visual d	gest settings isplay			
in the second se	Programs Uninstall a program					
Fi	ig. 36 - Selecting the 'Uninstall a p	rogram' option in Winc	lows Con	trol Pane	9	
Fi ∰ Programs and Featur ← → ∨ ↑ ਯੈ →	ig. 36 - Selecting the 'Uninstall a p es Control Panel > All Control Panel Items > Programs and F	rogram' option in Winc	lows Con	trol Pane	el — — >	X
ঈ Programs and Featur ← → ৺ ↑ জি → Control Panel Home	es Control Panel > All Control Panel Items > Programs and F	rogram' option in Winc	lows Con	trol Pane) 	×
Image: Programs and Feature Image: Progr	es Control Panel > All Control Panel Items > Programs and F Uninstall or change a program es To uninstall a program, select in from the lis es on or	rogram' option in Winc eatures	lows Con	trol Pane	2) 	X
Fi Programs and Featur ← → → ↑ @→ Control Panel Home View installed updat View installed updat off	es Control Panel > All Control Panel Items > Programs and F Uninstall or change a program To uninstall a program, select it from the lis or organise ~ Uninstall/Change	rogram' option in Winc eatures	dows Con	trol Pane		× ٩
Fi Programs and Featur ← → → ↑ ↔ ↔ Control Panel Home View installed updat View installed updat 9 Turn Windows featur	es Control Panel > All Control Panel Items > Programs and F Uninstall or change a program es To uninstall a program, select it from the lis es on or Organise * Uninstall/Change Name © DriveSetupUtility	rogram' option in Winc eatures	Jows Con	trol Pane		× ٩
File Programs and Feature ← → ← ↑ ↔ → → ↑ ↔ → ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓ ↓	es Control Panel > All Control Panel Items > Programs and F Uninstall or change a program To uninstall a program, select it from the lis or or Organise > Uninstall/Change Name © DriverSetupUtility @7.20 19100 (rd4)	eatures tand then click Uninstall, Change or Repair. Acer InCorporated lapor Profes	lows Con	Size 1.89 MB	- • • •	× م
Fi Programs and Featur ← → → ↑ @ → Control Panel Home View installed updat View installed updat off	es Control Panel > All Control Panel Items > Programs and F Uninstall or change a program To uninstall a program, select it from the lis res on or Organise * Uninstall/Change To Uninstall or Change DriverSetupUtility DriverSetupUtility Tage Configuration Manager	eatures t and then click Uninstall, Change or Repair. hange this program. Acer incorporated Igor Pavlov Acer	Lows Con	Size 1.89 MB 4.96 MB 744 KB	- C > Version 1.00.3026 19.00 2.522250	× م
Fi Programs and Feature ← → · · ↑ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	es Control Panel > All Control Panel Items > Programs and F Uninstall or change a program To uninstall a program, select if from the lis es on or Organise ~ Uninstall/Change DriveSetupUtility DriveSetupUtility DriveSetupUtility T-Zip 19.00 (x64) All Control Panel Items > Programs and F	eatures t and then click Uninstall, Change or Repair. hange this program. Acer incorporated ligor Paviov Acer Acer	lows Con	Size 1.89 MB 744 KB 1.88 MB 744 KB	- C 2	× ٩
Programs and Featur ← → ← ↑ @→ Control Panel Home View Installed updat ♥ Tum Windows featur off	es Control Panel > All Control Panel Items > Programs and F Uninstall or change a program To uninstall a program, select it from the lis organise Uninstall/Change Name Uninstall or change Name Uninstall or change Uninstall or change Name Uninstall or change Uninstall or change Name Uninstall or change Name Uninstall or change Uninstall or change Uninstall or change Uninstall or change Name Uninstall or change Uninstall or c	eatures eatures tand then click Uninstall, Change or Repair. Acer InfoCorporated for Pewico Acer Acer Microsoft Corporation	Lows Con	Size 1.89 MB 4.96 MB 744 KB 1.88 MB	- C 2	× ٩
Fi Programs and Featur ← → ← ↑ @ → Control Panel Home View installed updat View installed updat Tum Windows Featur	es Control Panel > All Control Panel Items > Programs and F Uninstall or change a program es To uninstall a program, select it from the lis es on or Organise Uninstall Aprogram, select it from the lis es on or Organise Uninstall Aprogram, select it from the lis es on or Organise Uninstall Aprogram, select it from the lis es on or Organise Uninstall Aprogram, select it from the lis es on or Organise Uninstall or ch @ Drive-SetupUtility @ Aprilacje Mucrosoft 365 dia firm - pl-pl @ Applicacje Mucrosoft 365 dia firm - pl-pl @ Applicacje Mucrosoft 365 dia firm - pl-pl	eatures eatures and then click Uninstall, Change or Repair. hange this program. Accer Accer Accer Microsoft Corporation SweetLabs	Lows Con	Size 1.89 MB 4.96 MB 744 KS 1.88 MB	- C 2	× ٩
Fi Programs and Featur ← → ← ↑ @→ Control Panel Home View installed updat View installed updat Tum Windows featur off	es Control Panel > All Control Panel Items > Programs and F Uninstall or change a program es or or Organise > Uninstall a program, select it from the lis es on or Organise > Uninstall/Change Name © Drive-SetupUtility III Acer Configuration Manager III Aplikacje Microsoft 365 dla firm - pl-pl Aplikacje Microsoft 365 dla firm - pl-pl Aplikacje Microsoft 365 dla firm - pl-pl Aplikacje Microsoft 365 dla firm - pl-pl Panel Mender	eatures eatures tand then click Uninstall, Change or Repair. Acer IRKOPporated loor Preform Acer Microsoft Corporation SweetLabs Bilender Foundation	Lows Con	Size 1.89 MB 4.96 MB 744 KB 1.88 MB 313 MB	- C 2	× م
Fi Programs and Featur ← → → ↑ € → Control Panel Home View installed updat View installed updat Turn Windows featur off	es es control Panel > All Control Panel Items > Programs and F Uninstall or change a program es to uninstall or change a program To uninstall or change a program To uninstall or change a program (Uninstall or change a program To uninstall or change a program (Uninstall or cha	eatures eature	Lows Con stalled On 1301/2021 26/09/2021 16/11/2022 14/09/2022 14/09/2022 16/09/2021	Size 1.89 MB 4.96 MB 744 KB 1.88 MB 313 MB	- C 2	× م
Fi Programs and Feature ← → ↑ ↑ ♂ → Control Ranel Home View installed updat View installed updat View installed updat View installed updat	es Control Panel > All Control Panel Items > Programs and F Uninstall or change a program To uninstall a program, select if from the lis es on or Organise = Uninstall/Change Name © DriveSetupUtility © PriveSetupUtility © PriveSetupUtility © PriveSetupUtility © PriveSetupUtility © PriveSetupUtility © PriveSetupUtility © PriveSetupUtility © App Explorer > Blender © CAD Decor PRO © CAD Decor PRO © CAD Control PRO	eatures teatures teat	Lows Con installed On 13/01/2022 26/09/2021 16/11/2022 26/09/2021 15/11/2022	Size 1.89 MB 744 KB 1.88 MB 313 MB 149 MB	- C 2	× ٩
Fi Programs and Featur ← → · · ↑ @→ Control Panel Home View installed updat View installed updat off	es Control Panel > All Control Panel Items > Programs and F Uninstall or change a program es on or Cirganise Uninstall a program, select it from the lis To uninstall a program, select it from the lis Cirganise Uninstall/Change Name Uninstall or change a program To uninstall a program, select it from the lis Cirganise Uninstall/Change Name Cirganise Uninstall/Change Mare Aunptant App Explorer Bender Cirgadiceme 10.7 Circadiceme 10.7 Circadiceme 10.7 Circadiceme 10.7	eatures eatures tand then click Uninstall, Change or Repair. Acer InCorporated Gor Pewico Acer Acer Acer Acer Acer Acer Acer CaD Project K&A CaD Project AcerICorporation CAD Project AcerICorporated CaD Project AcerICORD	Lows Con	Size 1.89 MB 4.96 MB 744 KB 1.88 MB 313 MB 149 MB 299 MB	- C 2000 Version 1.00.3026 19.00 2.522250 3.522220.20 16.0.157252.2020 2.73.2 C\CADProjekt\CAI 1.07 4.00.3042	х Р
Fi Programs and Featur ← → → ↑ @ → Control Panel Home View installed updat View installed updat Tum Windows featur	ig, 36 - Selecting the 'Uninstall a p es Control Panel > All Control Panel Items > Programs and F Uninstall or change a program To uninstall a program, select if from the lis es on or Organise * Uninstall/Change DriverSetupUtility @7-Zip 1500 (c64) @Acer Aumptant @ Aplikacje Microsoft 365 dia firm - pl-pl @ App Explorer @ Biender @ Cab Decor PRO @ Cab Decor PRO @ Cab Decor PRO @ Cac Center Service @ Cleaner	eatures eatures t and then click Uninstall, Change or Repair. hange this program. Acer Acer Microsoft Corporated Igor Pavlov Acer Microsoft Corporation SweetLabs Blender Foundation CAD Project K&A CAD Project Acer Net Corporate Acer CAD Project K&A CAD Project CAD	Lows Con Installed On 13/01/2021 6/10/2021 16/11/2022 26/09/2021 15/11/2022 26/09/2021 15/11/2022 25/10/2022	Size 1.89 MB 4.96 MB 744 KB 1.88 MB 313 MB 149 MB 29.9 MB	- C 2 2 Version 10.0.3026 19.00 2.5.22250 3.5.22220.20 16.0.15726.20202 0.2734.456 2.79.2 C.\CADProjekt\CAI 1.07 4.00.3042 6.05	× , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
Fi Programs and Featur ← → ← ↑ @→ Control Panel Home View installed updat View installed updat Tum Windows featur	es Control Panel > All Control Panel Items > Programs and F Uninstall or change a program es To uninstall a program, select it from the lis es on or Organise Uninstall/Change Name Uninstall or change a program To uninstall a program, select it from the lis es on or Organise Uninstall/Change Name Uninstall or change a program All Control Panel Items > Programs and F Uninstall or change a program Organise Uninstall/Change Drive-SetupUtility To Z-10 1500 (x64) Aplikacje Microsoft 365 dla firm - pl-pl Aplikacje Microsoft 365 dla firm - pl-pl CAD Decore PRO Colducionse 10.7 E Care Center Service Colducionse 10.7	eatures eatures tand then click Uninstall, Change or Repair. Acer InCorporated Igor Paviov Acer Acer Microsoft Corporation SweetLabs Biender Foundation CAD Projekt R&A CAD CAD Projekt R&A CAD CAD CAD CAD CAD CAD CAD CAD CAD CA	Lows Con Installed On 13/01/2021 26/09/2022 14/09/2022 21/09/2022 12/01/2022 21/09/2022 12/01/2022 21/09/2022	Size 1.89 MB 4.96 MB 744 KB 1.88 MB 313 MB 149 MB 229 MB 222 MB	- C 2000 Version 1.003026 19.00 2.522200 3.52220020 16.0.15726.20202 0.273.4.565 2.79.2 C:\CADProjekt\CAI 1.0.7 4.003042 6.05	х Р
Figure 1 Image: Programs and Feature Image: mail = mail = mail Image: mail = mail I	ig, 36 - Selecting the 'Uninstall a p es control Panel ≥ All Control Panel Items > Programs and F Uninstall or change a program To uninstall a program, select it from the lis es on or Organise ♥ Uninstall/Change DriverSetupUtility @ Arecr Aumptant @ Aplikacje Microsoft 365 dla firm - pl-pl @ App Explorer @ Bender @ Aplikacje Microsoft 365 dla firm - pl-pl @ App Explorer @ Bender @ Claubicens Parice @ Claubicens Paricens @ Claubicens @ Claubicens @ Claubicens @ Claubicens	eatures eatures t and then click Uninstall, Change or Repair. hange this program.) AREP (KorCoporated ligor Pavlov Acer Microsoft Corporation SweetLabs Biender Foundation CAD Projekt R&A CAP ropekt R&A CAD Projekt R&A CAD CAD Projekt R&A CAD CAD Projekt R&A CAD CAD CAD CAD CAD CAD CAD CAD CAD CA	Lows Con installed On 13/01/2021 26/09/2021 06/09/2022 26/09/2022 26/09/2022 21/01/2022 21/01/2022 21/01/2022 21/01/2022 21/01/2022 21/01/2022	Size 1.89 MB 4.96 MB 744 KS 1.88 MB 313 MB 149 MB 229 MB 222 MB 495 MB		х Р
Fi Programs and Featur ← → → ↑ @→ Control Ranel Home View installed updat View installed updat View installed updat Off	ig. 36 - Selecting the 'Uninstall a p es Control Panel > All Control Panel Items > Programs and F Uninstall or change a program To uninstall a program, select if from the lis es on or Organise ~ Uninstall/Change DriveSetupUtility Dri	eatures eatures t and then click Uninstall, Change or Repair. Acer Incorporated ligor Pavlov Acer Acer Acer Acer Acer Acer Acer Acer	Lows Con Installed On 13/07/2022 26/09/2021 16/11/2022 12/09/2021 15/11/2022 12/01/2022 15/11/	Size 1.89 MB 744 KB 1.88 MB 744 KB 1.88 MB 299 MB 222 MB 496 MB 814 MB	- C 20 Version 100.3026 19.00 2.5.22250 3.5.22220.20 160.15726.2022 0.2734.565 2.79.2 C\CADProject\CAI 1.07 4.00.3042 6.05 5.5.4.52620 9.1.2060.0	× م

Fig. 37 - Indication of CAD Decor PRO to be uninstalled

You will be asked to confirm that you want to uninstall the program (Fig. 38). After approval, program will be uninstalled. You can follow the process on the progress bar (Fig. 39). After successful uninstallation, a message will be displayed confirming that the program has been uninstalled from your computer (Fig. 40).



Fig. 38 - Request for confirmation of the uninstallation of the program

The uninstaller of the CAD Decor PRO program				
Uninstallation progress				
Deleting a file	e: 518807jpg			
Cancel	Uninstall			

Fig. 39 - Process for uninstalling CAD Decor PRO

The uninstaller of the CAD Decor PRO program		
Completing the uninst	allation of the CAD Decor PRO program	
Uninst	tallation successfully completed!	
Finish		

Fig. 40 - CAD Decor PRO has been uninstalled

NOTE

Do not uninstall the program by running the uninstall.exe file in the program directory. In such a case, the user will be informed about the necessity to invoke the uninstallation process from the level of the Windows Control Panel (Fig. 41).





Tel. + 48 61 662 38 83

1

TECHNICAL SUPPORT

Any questions or concerns? Contact our technical support e-mail: pomoc@cadprojekt.com.pl or www.cadprojekt.com.pl



CAD PROJEKT K&A

CAD Projekt K&A Sp.J. Dąbrowski, Sterczała, Sławek ul. Rubież 46 | 61-612 Poznań | tel. +48 61 662 38 83 biuro@cadprojekt.com.pl | www.cadprojekt.com.pl



IntelliCAD and the IntelliCAD logo are registered trademarks of The IntelliCAD Technology Consortium in the United States and other countries.